Gaps and Challenges in Gerontology Education and Employment in Singapore

AG6900 Gerontology Practicum

by

Chen Chen

G2202333C

Practicum Supervisor: Dr. Wayne Freeman Chong

Faculty Supervisor: Assoc. Prof. Premchand Dommaraju

Nanyang Technological University
School of Social Sciences



Table of Contents

Table of Contents	2
1. Introduction	3
2. Practicum Project Overview	5
3. Methodology	6
4. Discussion	8
5. Recommendations	10
6. References	12
Appendix	15
1. Panellists of Gaps and Challenges in Gerontological Education and Employment	
Roundtable, 10 May 2023	15
2. E-flyer	17
Key notes of verbatim transcript	21
1. Why do we need specialised Gerontology education programs instead of including	
ageing-related courses as part of social science or nursing programs?	21
2. Who is the target audience for Gerontology education programs, as perceived by	
educators?	23
3. What are the current challenges faced by Gerontology education programs?	25
4. What are the gaps in employment status and career progression for Gerontology gr	aduates
based on feedback from graduates?	27
5. Should Gerontology be included in general education curricula?	28

1. Introduction

Philosophical and literary reflections on what it means to grow old appear in the earliest historical records, but the systematic study of ageing began about a century ago and is a relatively new field of study. In recent decades, the rapid ageing of populations in developed countries has increased academic interest in the subject. As a result, the study of ageing has been integrated into many disciplines. While each discipline has key conceptual and empirical generalisations about ageing, there is little agreement across disciplines about the core of knowledge in gerontology (*Ferraro*, 2017).

Gerontology, as an academic field, equips professionals with the necessary theoretical knowledge and practical skills to tackle the multifaceted challenges of an increasingly diverse ageing population. The study revealed that individuals' commitment to a career in gerontology was influenced significantly by their motivation to work with older adults, job satisfaction, and the extent of formal education received in gerontology (Gendron et al., 2014).

There is no doubt that Singapore needs a workforce that understands and can meet the diverse needs of older people. Those working in the ageing field found jobs through referrals from friends/colleagues or job search websites. No jobs match the keyword "Gerontologist" on the Singapore job search website MyCareersFuture (MyCareersFuture, n.d.). Jobs related to the ageing field require applicants to have some knowledge, skills, training, or prior experience related to ageing but do not specifically recruit graduates with a background in gerontology.

Gerontology education students entering the job market cannot differentiate between other jobs requiring a clear disciplinary background and may feel uncertain about career opportunities (Guest et al., 2019). Gerontology-educated job seekers may look for other positions rather than in the ageing field. It may also lead students interested in gerontology to change their major to other professions that clearly require their specialist skills or knowledge for career prospects. Along with the challenge of graduates needing help finding jobs, recruitment companies have also fed back that recruiting people without gerontology training to provide services and quality of care may not meet clients' expectations. Overall, the field of gerontological education and employment suffers from a lack of appreciation and core skills in education and practical training. Addressing these issues is essential to ensure the development of the next generation of gerontological professionals (*Dupre & Gu, 2021*).

In a previous survey for the Practicum project, 34 graduates of the gerontology programme expressed different views on the usefulness of attending a gerontology education for employment in the ageing field.

- Respondents already working in the ageing field (n=13) continued to work in the same
 job after graduating from the gerontology course, with no challenges in finding a job but
 no career advancement.
- Mid-career switcher Respondents who successfully found employment in the field of ageing (n=14) encountered some challenges in their job search.
 - Employers or HR departments needed to be made aware of the gerontology courses available, and respondents felt there were no specific job listings.

- The network of contacts built up from previous jobs could not be used in gerontology as it needed to be more relevant, limiting job opportunities for graduates.
- Gerontology appears to be an additional requirement on top of professional requirements such as medical and nursing and cannot stand alone.
- The salary offered does not match the qualifications of the graduates.
- For respondents who are senior employees with no experience working in the field of gerontology prior to their studies, finding a job in gerontology can be challenging as employers prefer people with a particular relevant background.
- Respondents who were not currently working in the field of ageing and had tried to find work in the field of ageing after graduation (n=7) also experienced the challenges mentioned earlier. In addition, for fresh graduates, respondents with relevant backgrounds and work experience as healthcare workers or social workers found it difficult to enter the ageing field. Employers needed to be more confident in accepting a candidate with no relevant background who had only taken gerontology courses. Respondents chose to work in something other than the field of ageing after graduation because the salary offered did not match their qualifications or expectations.

This report elaborated on challenges in the current Gerontological education and employment opportunities landscapes in Singapore. Specifically, the following questions are answers:

1. Why do we need specialised Gerontology education programs instead of including ageing-related courses as part of social science or nursing programs?

- 2. Who is the target audience for Gerontology education programs, as perceived by educators?
- 3. What are the current challenges faced by Gerontology education programs?
- 4. What are the gaps in employment status and career progression for Gerontology graduates based on feedback from graduates?
- 5. Should Gerontology be included in general education curricula?

2. Practicum Project Overview

The Gerontological Society of Singapore (GSS) organised a virtual roundtable, inviting experts in the field of Gerontology from educational institutions and industry stakeholders. Total seven distinguished panellists participated in the virtual roundtable scheduled on 10th May, 2023.

The virtual roundtable discussion used a focus group approach with remote, semi-structured interviews conducted via Zoom. The discussion was structured around five questions about gaps and challenges in gerontology education and employment. In the 80-minute recording of the virtual roundtable discussion, the key points raised by each panellist were transcribed directly and organised chronologically according to the order of the questions asked.

The topic generated significant interest among individuals involved in the field of ageing. The promotional eFlyer sent out for the event resulted in 84 registrations, and on the day of the webinar, 59 participants joined the session with the panellists. Post the event, an email was sent

to each registered attendee, encouraging them to subscribe to updates from the GSS and expressing the importance of gerontology as a professional training field, as well as gerontological education and employment. So far, 17 individuals have responded positively and expressed their interest in subscribing to the updates.

3. Methodology

After COVID-19, people have become accustomed to the web conference format and are proficient in using video conferencing software. Considering that the preparation time for the physical event was very tight, a virtual roundtable was used as the webinar to have discussion on "Gaps and Challenges in Gerontology Education and Employment" in Singapore.

The flexibility of the virtual roundtable in terms of scheduling ensured a higher attendance rate. The meetings took place between weekday lunch breaks, and panellists could attend the event at their workplaces without conflicting with their other commitments. This flexibility ensured higher attendance from the audience. The interactive features of the virtual platform enriched the roundtable experience. Panellists could share resources, answer questions from the audience, and interact with the audience to create a dynamic learning environment. For the organisers, the virtual roundtable was digitally recorded and archived for future reference. It allowed researchers who could not attend to catch up on valuable insights shared during the event and re-access the recordings for future research.

A snowball approach was used to identify panellists for the virtual roundtable. First, based on the school's resources and information from previous practicum reports- several key panellists whose expertise and knowledge were highly respected and recognised in gerontology education were identified. After confirming participation and setting meeting times with the initial panellist group members, they were asked to recommend other experts with relevant expertise suitable for roundtable panellists. Next, the recommended panellists were contacted and explained the purpose and details of the virtual roundtable. Once they agreed to participation, they were asked to recommend other suitable potential roundtable panellists. This process was repeated to keep expanding the pool of potential panellists until we had enough of them for the roundtable.

After identifying suitable panellists, a formal invitation was sent to them to participate in the virtual roundtable, and they were given sufficient time to consider the invitation and respond accordingly. The formal invitation communicated the purpose, date, format, and expectations for their participation. The whole invitation process considered the panellists' background, experience, and alignment with the topic and objectives, selecting panellists who could bring different perspectives and knowledge to the discussion.

The Chatham House Rule (*The Royal Institute of International Affairs, 2023*) is followed to keep speakers and participants anonymous and share information without disclosing the identity of the sources. Based on the virtual roundtable discussions on "Gaps and Challenges in Gerontology Education and Employment" in Singapore, the main points are summarised in the next section.

4. Discussion

As the proportion of older people (aged 60 years and above) is rapidly growing in Singapore, we need specialist courses that provide in-depth knowledge and skills, specialising in ageing issues, including psychological, social, and biological aspects. This specialised focus enables students to develop a comprehensive understanding of the ageing process and related issues, enabling them to address the unique challenges older people face. The growing ageing population will increase the demand for elderly-oriented services. It will increase the demands for gerontology professionals as they have a good understanding of the different aspects of ageing, and hence they can provide better services to the elderly. The specialised Gerontology education programs are distinct from other disciplines like social science or nursing as it encompasses a multidisciplinary approach that goes beyond the scope of these related fields.

The target audience for these Gerontology education programs includes individuals from various backgrounds. It includes students who have a genuine interest in ageing and want to pursue a career in the Gerontology field, as well as professionals from other fields who seek to transition into the ageing sector or incorporate gerontological knowledge into their current work. Since gerontology education aims to bridge disciplinary and cultural perspectives to generate new ideas and approaches for understanding the needs of the global ageing population, it encourages collaboration among health practitioners, designers, architects, and cultural practitioners to address challenges associated with ageing in multicultural societies. Therefore, professionals, academics, and policymakers involved in cross-cultural design, health, and ageing are also part of the target audience for Gerontology education programs. (Hills et al., 2021).

However, there are several challenges faced by Gerontology education programs in Singapore. These challenges include limited awareness and understanding of Gerontology as a field of study, a lack of core skills curriculum across institutions, and a lack of qualified and experienced faculty members to teach Gerontology courses, making it difficult to ensure consistent quality and content in Gerontology education. Since young people have very little exposure to and knowledge of ageing groups, making it difficult to develop understanding and passion (Robert & Mosher-Ashley, 2000). Further, the negative stereotypes associated with ageing make it difficult for the field of gerontology to attract young people (Hernandez & González, 2008).

The main challenge Gerontology graduates and practitioners face is the lack of professional accreditation and recognition by the healthcare and social care sectors. This makes it difficult for gerontology graduates to find work and advance their careers, which further reduces the willingness of people to join a gerontology program. Further, the hiring criteria for operations in the hospital and healthcare require hands-on experience, which reduces employment options for people with other backgrounds.

The basic knowledge of Gerontology should be incorporated into general education to promote age-friendly attitudes and enhance intergenerational understanding (Msw, 2003). While general education could provide an overview of ageing-related issues, specialised Gerontology programs are necessary to develop in-depth expertise in the field. Further, Gerontology-related topics could be introduced as electives or enrichment modules to cater to wider audiences.

5. Recommendations

Due to the changing demographic of Singapore, the importance of gerontology education and demands for gerontology professionals will be increasing in the near future. Therefore, efforts should be made to increase awareness and understanding of the benefits of Gerontology as a field of study. It can be achieved through targeted marketing campaigns, informational seminars, and outreach programs to schools and communities. Further, the collaboration between educational institutions, professional associations, and government agencies can promote the value and importance of Gerontology education.

While specialised Gerontology education programs are essential, there is merit of basic Gerontology knowledge in general education curricula. It can promote age-friendly attitudes and enhance intergenerational understanding. Gerontology-related topics can be included as elective courses or enrichment modules to cater to a wider audience. Given the evolving nature of ageing-related issues, educational institutions should provide opportunities for graduates and professionals to engage in continuous professional development through workshops, conferences, and online courses. This will ensure that practitioners stay updated with the latest research, best practices, and technological advancements in the field (Hughes & Heycox, 2005).

To ensure consistent quality and content in Gerontology education, there is a need to establish standardised curriculum guidelines across educational institutions. This can be achieved through collaborative efforts between academia, industry experts, and regulatory bodies to improve the recognition of Gerontology by the healthcare and social care sectors. Regular curriculum reviews

and updates should be conducted to incorporate emerging research and best practices in the field. Gerontology education should encourage interdisciplinary collaboration among students and professionals from various fields, which can be achieved by interdisciplinary projects, joint seminars, and shared resources. By fostering such collaboration, students can gain a broader perspective on ageing issues and develop holistic solutions.

Gerontology education programs should integrate career development components that guide career progression. This can include mentorship programs, professional development workshops, and networking opportunities. Collaboration with professional associations and industry experts can help define career pathways and establish professional certification programs in Gerontology. Collaboration between educational institutions and industry stakeholders is crucial in creating more job opportunities for Gerontology graduates. Industry partners can provide internships, practicum placements, and job shadowing programs to facilitate the transition from education to employment. Having networks and partnerships with healthcare organisations, social service agencies, and aged care facilities can help match graduates with relevant job openings in the field of healthcare, social services, and education. Also, allowing gerontologists to act as consultants, they can combine their knowledge of ageing with expertise in their general work. This is especially true for mid-life converts with extensive experience in other fields.

By implementing these recommendations, Gerontology education in Singapore can address the identified gaps and challenges and better prepare graduates to meet the demands of the ageing society of Singapore. It will contribute to the development of a skilled and competent workforce that can effectively address the needs of older adults and promote healthy and active ageing.

6. References

- Bengtson, V. L., & Warner, K. (n.d.). *Gerontology Applied Gerontology Age, Aging,*Physiological, Social, Aging, and Life JRank Articles. Medicine Encyclopedia.

 Retrieved May 22, 2023, from

 https://medicine.jrank.org/pages/734/Gerontology-Applied-gerontology.html#ixzz82N0c

 pMwz
- Dupre, M. E., & Gu, D. (Eds.). (2021). Encyclopedia of Gerontology and Population Aging.
 Springer International Publishing.
 https://link.springer.com/referencework/10.1007/978-3-030-22009-9
- Ferraro, K. F. (2017). *The Gerontological Imagination: An Integrative Paradigm of Aging*.

 Oxford University Press.

 https://books.google.com.sg/books/about/The_Gerontological_Imagination.html?id=3_lA

 DwAAQBAJ&redir_esc=y
- Gendron, T., Welleford, E. A., Pelco, L., & Myers, B. J. (2014, Oct 02). Who Is Likely to Commit to a Career With Older Adults? *Gerontology & Geriatrics Education*, *37*, 2016(2), 208-228. Tracey Gendron. 10.1080/02701960.2014.954042
- Guest, M. A., Clark-Shirley, L., Hancock, C., Newsham, T. M.K., Nikzad-Terhune, K., & Jenkins, K. (2019, Aug 27). An environmental scan of aging-related micro-credentials: implications for gerontology and gerontologists. *Gerontology & Geriatrics Education*, 45(7), 1-11. 10.1080/03601277.2019.1658853
- Hernandez, C. R., & González, M. Z. (2008, March 17). Effects of Intergenerational Interaction on Aging. *Semantic Scholar*.

- https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Effects-of-Intergenerational-Interaction-on-Aging -Hernandez-Gonz%C3%A1lez/ffd7c303ec353d75e19ebde9384e592bdf01e609
- Hills, D., Sung, V., Scharoun, L., Montana-Hoyos, C., & Peng, F. (Eds.). (2021). Cross-Cultural Design for Healthy Ageing. Intellect Books.
 https://press.uchicago.edu/ucp/books/book/distributed/C/bo68882828.html#anchor-excer
 pt
- Hughes, M., & Heycox, K. (2005, Dec 06). Promoting reflective practice with older people:

 Learning and teaching strategies. *Australian Social Work*, *58*(4), 341-456.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1447-0748.2005.00231.x
- Ministry of Manpower & Manpower Research and Statistics Department (MRSD). (2023, 4 23).

 **Summary Table: Employment.* Labour Market Statistics and Publications. Retrieved May 25, 2023, from https://stats.mom.gov.sg/Pages/employment-Summary-Table.aspx
- MOM. (2022, August 4). *Chart: Graduate Employment Rate And Starting Salary*. Labour Market Statistics and Publications. Retrieved May 25, 2023, from https://stats.mom.gov.sg/Pages/Graduate-Employment-Rate-Chart.aspx
- Msw, C. J. O. (2003). A Curriculum Module Enhances Students' Gerontological Practice-Related Knowledge and Attitudes. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, 38(4), 85–102. https://doi.org/10.1300/j083v38n04_08
- MyCareersFuture. (n.d.). *Gerontologist*. MyCareersFuture Singapore | Find jobs in Singapore that match your skills. Retrieved May 25, 2023, from https://www.mycareersfuture.gov.sg

- The Royal Institute of International Affairs. (2023). *Chatham House Rule*. Chatham House.

 Retrieved May 25, 2023, from

 https://www.chathamhouse.org/about-us/chatham-house-rule
- Robert, R., & Mosher-Ashley, P. M. (2000). FACTORS INFLUENCING COLLEGE

 STUDENTS TO CHOOSE CAREERS WORKING WITH ELDERLY PERSONS.

 Educational Gerontology. https://doi.org/10.1080/036012700300001386
- Singapore Department of Statistics. (2023, May 22). Complete Life Tables for Singapore

 Resident Population, 2021-2022. Singapore Department of Statistics (DOS) | SingStat

 Website. Retrieved May 23, 2023, from https://www.singstat.gov.sg/
- Singapore Department of Statistics. (2023, 05 22). *Key Indicators On The Elderly*. SingStat Table Builder. Retrieved May 25, 2023, from https://tablebuilder.singstat.gov.sg/
- United Nations. (2017). *World Population Ageing (2017)*. World Population Ageing 2017
 Highlights (ST/ESA/SER.A/397). Retrieved May 23, 2023, from

 https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/ageing/WPA2017_

 Highlights.pdf
- WHO. (2023). *Health data overview for the Republic of Singapore*. WHO The World Health Data Hub. Retrieved May 23, 2023, from https://data.who.int/countries/702

Appendix

1. Panellists of Gaps and Challenges in Gerontological Education and Employment Roundtable, 10 May 2023.

Meet The Panellists



Carol Ma Singapore University of Social Sciences

Head of Gerontology Programmes, Senior Fellow (Service-Learning & Community Engagement), S R Nathan School of Human Development



Emily Wong
Temasek Polytechnic

Course Chair,
Diploma in Social Sciences in Gerontology,
School of Humanities and Social Sciences



Helen Ko Singapore University of Social Sciences

Associate Professor, Master and PhD of Gerontology Programmes, S R Nathan School of Human Development



Janice Chia Singapore Ageing Asia Pte Ltd

Founder & Managing Director

Meet The Panellists



Kalyani Kirtikar Mehta

Singapore University of Social Sciences

Former Professor of Master and Ph.D. of Gerontology Programmes



Kevin Tan

Singapore University of Social Sciences

Head of Programme,
Minor in Applied Ageing Studies,
Senior Lecturer, Master/PhD in
Gerontology and Innovation



Premchand Varma Dommaraju

Nanyang Technological University, Singapore

Associate Professor, School of Social Sciences, Director of the MSc in Applied Gerontology programme



Shannon Ang

Nanyang Technological University, Singapore

Assistant Professor, School of Social Sciences

2. E-flyer Page 1: Virtual Roundtable Information and Registration Page



GERONTOLOGICAL SOCIETY

ROUNDTABLE DISCUSSION

Organised by the Gerontological Society of Singapore

GAPS AND CHALLENGES IN GERONTOLOGICAL EDUCATION AND EMPLOYMENT

DATE; MAY 10, 2023 TIME; 1:00-2:30 PM

ZOOM ONLINE MEETING

This roundtable will explore the needs, challenges, and opportunities of gerontological education in Singapore. It aims to establish a dialogue across Gerontology Programmes stakeholders from different institutions in Singapore.

Audiences:

- Gerontological Society of Singapore Members
- Students from different institutions in Singapore

Please scan the QR code below to register or click here.





If you need further details, please contact Ms. Chen Chen at cchen033@e.ntu.edu.sg.

2. E-flyer Page 2: Event Details



GERONTOLOGICAL SOCIETY

ROUNDTABLE DISCUSSION

Organised by the Gerontological Society of Singapore

GAPS AND CHALLENGES IN GERONTOLOGICAL EDUCATION AND EMPLOYMENT

EVENT DETAILS

Host-cum Moderator	Dr Wayne Freeman Chong Council Member, Gerontological Society Non-Executive Director, GeroPsych Consultants Pte Ltd Ms Chen Chen
	Master of Science Student, Applied Gerontology Nanyang Technological University
Roundtable	10 May 2023 1:00 PM - 2:30 PM
Venue	(Zoom meeting will be open at 12:50 PM) Zoom (Virtual meeting) The meeting link will be shared upon registration.
Panellists	Please note that attendance is by invitation only. Approximately 6-8 faculty members who specialize in Gerontology Programmes from various institutions and industry stakeholders in Singapore.
Audiences	Gerontological Society of Singapore Members Students from different institutions in Singapore
Output	Reports based on the roundtable will be written, following the Chatham House Rule.



If you need further details, please contact Ms. Chen Chen at cchen033@e.ntu.edu.sg.

2. E-flyer Page 3: Roundtable Synopsis



GERONTOLOGICAL SOCIETY

ROUNDTABLE SYNOPSIS

Singapore's ageing population has increased the demand for professionals with expertise in gerontology. In response, educational institutions have developed gerontology education programs that provide comprehensive knowledge of the ageing process and its impact. Some programs are specialised, focusing on specific aspects of ageing, such as nursing, health, and care work, while others offer a more general multidisciplinary perspective. Despite the demand for gerontology graduates, they face challenges in career progression due to a lack of employer awareness regarding the value of their expertise. In this context, the roundtable discussion will focus on the following questions:

- Why do we need specialised gerontology education programs instead of including ageing-related courses as part of social science or nursing programs?
- Who is the target audience for gerontology education programs, as perceived by educators?
- What are the current challenges faced by gerontology education programs?
- What are the gaps in employment status and career progression for gerontology graduates based on feedback from graduates?
- Should Gerontology be included in general education curricula?

Output: Reports based on the roundtable will be written, following the Chatham House Rule.



If you need further details, please contact Ms. Chen Chen at cchen033@e.ntu.edu.sg.

Key notes of verbatim transcript

1. Why do we need specialised Gerontology education programs instead of including ageing-related courses as part of social science or nursing programs?

Panellist 1

"Singapore is an ageing society and soon to become a super aged society ... we need people trained in skills to handle as well as helping seniors ... We need to understand what it is like to be a senior and if we want to be effective, we need to know the values, knowledge and skills... There's a lot of room for more programs to run well and there's a lot of interest in young people as well, not just career switches, but also young people as well who want to be part of this movement, I call it the ageing movement in Singapore."

Panellist 2:

"So, if you look at the A&E surfaces and we have more elderly people going into... know about the elderly ... can provide better services. I have a few students that are working in A&E who told us about the challenges. So that's the reason why they come on board to study our gerontology Program ... in Canada, some of the hospitals have a gerontologist. This is something that we don't have in Singapore ... if we want to tackle the ageing issue, we need a multidisciplinary team."

Panellist 3:

"Community care space is really expanding very rapidly. We really need people at the frontline who are managing these centres, who will encounter seniors and caregivers who are ageing themselves. To have the necessary skills to make these encounters pleasant enough so that these seniors and these families want to keep coming."

Panellist 4

"Gerontologists threads multiple domains of knowledge and multiple skill sets, and what we need to do is to bring together ... Gerontologists who are trained would be able to plan and develop holistic programs and services and also formulate policies that consider these various domains of knowledge are right for the benefit of seniors ... I think if I may just give an analogy here ... family medicine is considered a specialisation, whereas previously it was really considered as just a GP level ... now it's recognized as a masters in medicine."

Panellist 5

"Gerontology education ... prepares our society as we are going forward ... There's so much to learn ... it's practical you just have to cover it in depth through different courses ... fundamental base of knowledge that allows for communications across disciplines... It's not something that you get from just one or two courses in Social Science or Nursing Programs."

2. Who is the target audience for Gerontology education programs, as perceived by educators?

Panellist 6

"People who have worked 20 years in another job and they're looking to enter the sector and they want to be a care worker. They know that they're not going to be doing clinical care ... they realise that ageing is an issue that impacts them ... they get to see their own parents ageing, and then they think about maybe their current career and their future career may not be the same."

Panellist 7

"Fresh graduates ... we had somebody who was 69 ... People who want to become researchers, we have people who also want to like clinicians and nurses more in the field ... our courses stretch from biology to arts... Some people just do it for personal growth. I mean they (students enrolled in Gerontology Program) are ageing, they want to find out more about what this means and we have people obviously who are doing it for professional reasons and other reasons, yeah."

Panellist 1

"A lot of people wanted to switch to gerontologists because they see themselves serving this group and they also learn for themselves."

Panellist 4

"Three groups of people that we should target ... Basic general issues about ageing ... at a very broad level ... at the second level, I would say policy makers and program planners to be equipped with some knowledge... (choose a) graduate diploma level... Some of the core courses, for the purpose of program planning and understanding about ageing issues, appreciation of ageing and at the third level. Those who work directly with seniors, they really will need to be possessed with specialised domain knowledge and skill sets and even continuous upgrading."

Panellist 2

"We should also have another category (added to Panellist 4's three groups) ...We also have students from banking industry ... urban development ... (gerontology) program is they want to also learn about the aging because their works are all related...In Hong Kong, the government set up elder academy ... program from the kindergarten level to primary school to a secondary school ... Some of the kindergarten or primary schools ... have an Elder Academy Office within the school."

Panellist 1

"How the knowledge of ageing could be shared with young children at primary school level...(stories) children like to hear ... they could relate to like grandparents or neighbours or being kind to others."

3. What are the current challenges faced by Gerontology education programs?

Panellist 3

"A child that lives with grandparents, has got that personal experience ... really propel them to want to do something in this (Gerontology education) field... family makeup these days... young people are really not living very much in multi-gen. That kind (lives with grandparents) of personal experience will just become more and more infrequent. And it's all mostly through organised exposure now where the kids go to these venues on one off. I go to the nursing home, I sing songs, I perform and that's it."

"How do we portray ourselves to be more attractive to 16, 17 year olds? Because about old people and straight away they're thinking ohh it's looking after the old and the sick and the dependent. But it's really more than just that. How do you pull them in, especially those who? Don't have personal experiences with grandparents or older people in their lives. That's a perennial struggle that we face in our full time program. Don't have personal experiences with grandparents or older people in their lives. That's a perennial struggle that we face in our full time program."

"They (mid-career switcher) are a precious pool of students ... I really really attest to the observation that mid-career is. When they make that decision to pivot to this sector, they make that decision with a conviction because of their personal experience. And they're also at a live stage where they may no longer be the breadwinner of the family."

"They (mid-career switcher) are prepared to take that pay cut to start from the bottom, if physically they are able to. But I find that the real pity is that I feel the sector. Like just now, we talked about Geron being a wide open field. I think the sector needs to also widen their perspectives on the value that mid-career can bring to the table, even if it's not immediately visible... You know someone who was a manager at the engineering company? She does for my social service (in Gerontology course). But I think just give them a try and you might realize that they bring a lot of value to the organisation. That's the call out I'd like to make if there's anyone in the audience here that are potential employers."

<u>Panellist 4</u>

"First points here lack understanding and recognition about the program...Gerontology it's a relatively new discipline. For example, compared ... medicine or nursing or social work ... a lot of people are still not familiar ... decades ago, we didn't have to grapple with these ageing population issues... The second point ... broadness of gerontology. It is multidisciplinary, it encompasses so many disciplines and even with sub specialisations, for example, Social Gerontology, Educational Gerontology, Industry Gerontologists, just to name a few... Professionalize (a Gerontologist) so that people understand and also employ gerontologists like social workers and counsellors... body of knowledge ... constitute those core competencies and who should recognize these competencies? ... Standards ... What body should recognize that in society like the Singapore Association of Social Workers, the Singapore Association of Counselling. .. My suggestion here is to make it more manageable, we might just want to select one. Say for example, the health and social service sector... and work on developing these competencies."

4. What are the gaps in employment status and career progression for Gerontology graduates based on feedback from graduates?

Panellist 3

"At the diploma site since 2019 ... the (gerontology) course focused on the business of ageing... we try to target industry partners who see the value of building gerontology graduates who understand the psyche of an older consumer. They can then better promote the various products and services or even customised programs and services for these older adults. Ground... in Singapore's landscape in the last five years or so, the focus has been on health and Wellness."

"Graduates have expectations about starting pay they would like to get... the Community care sector recently underwent a salary revision and it's better now. But it's still not quite on par with the other sectors, like for example hospitality... our students do need look into remuneration recognition. Is there's still lots of room for improvement, but the jobs are there."

Panellist 6

"Employers need to change their mindset ... (about) Geron students don't have to be paid the market rate...Geron students will be doing a lot of the work because ageing overlaps every sector of our economy. It's not just looking at healthcare sites or the aged care clinical site... (also in) marketing, community development, corporate development, and management roles."

5. Should Gerontology be included in general education curricula?

Panellist 5

"A Gerontologist's core skills that ... Gerontologists in many other countries are trying to face Kenneth Ferraro in his book The Gerontology Imagination... has gerontology as a program, as a discipline... I guess negative stereotypes of ageing... are about health... Gerontology programs also take on that sort of image. (Gerontology students are) self selected groups of people who care about it coming to the program... General education curricula is one of the ways in which we can catch people at a younger age."

Panellist 1

"Society point of view ... In Singapore... the last 1012 years, relatively, it's very young ... whereas in other countries it's been around for 40-50 years. Secondly, we don't have licensing or we don't have. A specific organisation that will make a unified voice, perhaps at MOH level or MOM level to speak for the all graduates. Third point, industry mapping for the ageing sector... traditional thinking is still there that healthcare, commercial, social care, they're still breaking it up... when you want effective service for seniors or even silver business managers or CEOs, they also need a holistic perspective. I do see advertisements that say advertising for social workers/Gerontology manager, Counseling/Gerontology."